RECEIVED

May 26 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-001500

Case No. 2020-CP-07-00768

Dana Advocaat, both individually and as Trustee of the
Advocaat Living Trust dated March 7, 2019, Respondent,

v.

Community Services Associates, Inc., Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Douglas W. MacKelcan
Michael C. Masciale
COPELAND STAIR KINGMA
& LOVELL, LLP
40 Calhoun Street, Suite 400
Charleston, SC 29401

Benjamin E. Nicholson, V
BURR & FORMAN LLP
Post Office Box 11390
Columbia, SC 29211

Counsel for Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the circuit court erred in holding that a corporation's contract with a third party is a bylaw of the corporation under the Nonprofit Corporation Act.
- II. Whether the circuit court erred in holding that a document that contains no information about actual revenue being collected and spent constitutes an accounting record under the Nonprofit Corporation Act.
- III. Whether the circuit court erred in creating a new common-law right to inspect any record of a nonprofit corporation.
- IV. Whether the circuit court abused its discretion in compelling production of a document when Advocaat never moved to compel the document's production and when Advocaat's right to obtain a copy of that document is the ultimate issue in this case.

INTRODUCTION

This case presents a single question: Whether a member of a nonprofit corporation is entitled to inspect one of the corporation's contracts.

That's it. The only question that has to be answered is whether Advocaat is entitled to inspect the 2018 gate agreement between Community Services Associates, Inc. ("CSA") (a South Carolina nonprofit corporation and the homeowners' association of which she is a member) and Sea Pines Resort LLC and Sea Pines Center Associates, LLC. This case is not about how CSA uses the gate-fee revenue. That is a different issue *not* raised in Advocaat's complaint.

This distinction matters because these two issues were often conflated below in the circuit court. This case involves only the right to inspect the 2018 gate agreement. It does not matter whether Advocaat could ever obtain a copy of the 2018 gate agreement in litigation that directly challenged the use of the gate-fee revenue. What matters is the case she actually filed. And that case has resulted in a circuit court order that sets bad precedent on questions under the Nonprofit Corporation Act, the common law, and Rule 34 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.

Turning to that order, the circuit court said, for four reasons, the answer was yes: Advocaat is entitled to inspect the 2018 gate agreement. On each front, the circuit court was wrong. *First*, a contract is not a bylaw under the Nonprofit Corporation Act. Contracts govern conduct with third parties, while bylaws govern internal conduct. *Second*, the contract is not an accounting record under the Nonprofit Corporation Act because it does not show what revenue is collected or how that revenue is actually spent. *Third*, there is no common-law right to inspect a contract, and the circuit court did not cite a single case that justifies its creation of such a right. *Fourth*, the rules of civil procedure do not apply here, as compelling production of the contract in discovery actually (and prematurely) resolves the ultimate question on the merits. The circuit court's order should therefore be reversed.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Sea Pines and CSA

Sea Pines is a private, gated community on Hilton Head Island. (R. p. 23 (Am. Compl. 2).) The community includes residential homes and condominiums, a resort hotel, businesses, and recreational facilities.

Started in the 1960s, one of Sea Pines' covenants was recorded in September 1974. (R. p. 53 (Opp'n to Application Ex. A at 1).) In the 1980s, the developer of Sea Pines went into bankruptcy. In resolving the bankruptcy, three things occurred that are significant to this case.

First, CSA is a nonprofit corporation formed in 1987 that, through the bankruptcy, assumed the developer's responsibility for Sea Pines, including ownership and management of the roads, common areas, and (importantly for this case) the gates to the community. (R. p. 175 (Pl.'s Reply on Application Ex. 3 at 3).) CSA has a recorded set of bylaws that governs its activities. (R. pp. 141–59 (Opp'n to Application Ex. C).) Its members include all Sea Pines property owners. (R. pp. 179–80 (Pl.'s Reply on Application Ex. 3 at 7–8).) Its board of directors consists of nine residential property owners, four representatives of Sea Pines Resort, and four representatives of the businesses in Sea Pines. (R. p. 367 (Pl.'s Reply on Application Ex. 4).)

Second, and also through the bankruptcy, many of the developer's rights and responsibilities that were not assigned to CSA were assigned to Sea Pines Plantation Company, Inc. by the bankruptcy trustee. As part of this assignment, Sea Pines Plantation Company, Inc. had the right not to have the gate policy changed in any way

that further restricted that company's access to Sea Pines (which explicitly included imposition of higher gate fees), without the company's consent. (R. pp. 244–45 (Pl.'s Reply on Application Ex. 3b at 6–7).) Today, Sea Pines Resort, LLC is the successor to the Sea Pines Plantation Company, Inc. and therefore holds this right related to the gate fees.

Third, and once again through the bankruptcy, the bankrupt developer (again through the bankruptcy trustee) assigned all of its interest in Sea Pines Center, LP to certain individuals. *See* Beaufort Cty. Register of Deeds Book 11, Page 2161–70.¹ As part of that assignment, the bankrupt developer granted to Sea Pines Center (including its invitees, guests, customers, and shop owners) an easement to use the gates and the right that any increases in the gate fee above a certain amount for daily, weekly, or monthly passes must be approved by Sea Pines Center. *See id.* at Page 2163. Sea Pines Center Associates, LLC is the successor to Sea Pines Center and now holds that right about approving increases in the gate fees.

The gate policy

From its beginning, Sea Pines has had a gate fee. (R. p. 70 (Opp'n to Application Ex. A at 18).) Based on the 1988 assignment from the bankruptcy trustee to CSA and

¹ Although not in the record in this case, this document is publicly recorded with the register of deeds in Beaufort County, so the Court may take judicial notice of it. No one in this litigation has questioned this assignment. *See* Rule 201(b), SCRE (court may take judicial notice when facts come from “sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned”); Rule 201(f), SCRE (“Judicial notice may be taken at any stage of the proceeding.”).

under CSA's bylaws, CSA has implemented and enforces the gate policy. (R. pp. 85–140 (Opp'n to Application Ex. B); p. 150 (Opp'n to Application Ex. C at 9).)

The gate policy is a specific document, which sets forth who may enter Sea Pines and under what conditions. (R. pp. 85–140 (Opp'n to Application Ex. B).) (The gate policy is also available on CSA's website. *See* tinyurl.com/1g2dotry.) This includes who is eligible to have or to purchase decals for entry and who must pay a fee for entry.

Most of the revenue from the gate fees is used for community services and goes into the Community Service Fund. (R. p. 70 (Opp'n to Application Ex. A at 18); p. 175 (Pl.'s Reply on Application Ex. 3 at 3).) This revenue is used for road maintenance, security, and administration. (R. p. 405 (Pl.'s Reply on Application Ex. 7 at 1).) A small amount of the gate-fee revenue is used for an intra-community trolley and marketing. (R. pp. 405–12 (Pl.'s Reply on Application Ex. 7).)

The gate agreements

In addition to the gate policy, CSA also has gate agreements with Sea Pines Resort and Sea Pines Center Associates. These gate agreements are necessary because of the rights that the bankrupt developer (through the bankruptcy trustee) gave to the predecessors of both Sea Pines Resort and Sea Pines Center Associates regarding increases to the gate fee without those entities' consent.

The first agreement was in 1999, when the daily fee went from \$3 to \$5. (R. p. 405 (Pl.'s Reply on Application Ex. 7 at 1).) Another agreement in 2003 extended the \$5 fee. (R. p. 406 (Pl.'s Reply on Application Ex. 7 at 2).) Then, in 2013, CSA, Sea Pines Resort, and Sea Pines Center Associates agreed to increase the fee to \$6. (R. p. 407

(Pl.'s Reply on Application Ex. 7 at 3.) The daily commercial fee was raised again by agreement in 2017, this time to \$10. (R. p. 409 (Pl.'s Reply on Application Ex. 7 at 5).)

In 2018, CSA, Sea Pines Resort, and Sea Pines Center Associates reached another gate agreement. That agreement raised the daily visitor fee to \$8 and then later to \$9, with the possibility of the fee reaching \$10. (R. p. 412 (Pl.'s Reply on Application Ex. 7 at 8).) This 2018 gate agreement is the subject of this lawsuit, and it is the only gate agreement that is discussed in the rest of this brief.

Advocaat demands to inspect the 2018 gate agreement

Advocaat is the trustee of the Advocaat Living Trust dated March 7, 2019. (R. p. 489 (Advocaat Aff. 1).) That trust holds title to residential property in Sea Pines. (R. p. 489 (Advocaat Aff. 1).)

Advocaat is a member of CSA. (R. p. 490 (Advocaat Aff. 2).) Advocaat demanded to inspect the 2018 gate agreement. (R. pp. 493–94 (Advocaat Aff. Ex. 1); 495–97 (Advocaat Aff. Ex. 2).) CSA denied her request in February 2020. (R. p. 42 (Appl. Ex. 1).)

Advocaat sues to inspect the gate agreements

Dissatisfied with CSA's response, Advocaat sued CSA. (R. p. 15 (Summons); *see also* R. p. 22 (Am. Compl. (correcting the named plaintiff).) The crux of Advocaat's complaint is that she is entitled to inspect the gate agreement because it is a "bylaw" under the Nonprofit Corporation Act. (R. pp. 25–26 (Am. Compl. 4–5).) CSA disagreed with Advocaat's contention. (R. pp. 29–35 (Answer).)

In furtherance of her goal, Advocaat applied to inspect the gate agreement. (R. pp. 38–39 (Application 3–4).) As an alternative to her "bylaw" argument, Advocaat

claimed that the gate agreement was an “accounting record.” (R. pp. 39–41 (Application 4–6).)

The circuit court granted the application for four reasons. (R. p. 1 (Order).) First, the circuit court concluded that the gate agreement was a bylaw under the Nonprofit Corporation Act. (R. pp. 4–6 (Order 4–6).) Second, the circuit court said the gate agreement was an accounting record under that act. (R. pp. 6–9 (Order 6–9).) Third, the circuit court held that Advocaat had a “common law right” to inspect the gate agreement because the agreement affected her property. (R. pp. 9–10 (Order 9–10).) And fourth, the circuit court held that Advocaat had a right to inspect the agreement under Rule 34, SCRCF, as a litigant. (R. p. 10 (Order 10).)

CSA moved to reconsider. (R. p. 474 (Mot. to Alter or Amend).) The circuit court denied that motion. (R. p. 13 (Order).)

CSA timely appealed. (R. p. 506 (Notice of Appeal).)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Interpreting a statute is a question of law that this Court reviews de novo. *Lightner v. Hampton Hall Club, Inc.*, 419 S.C. 357, 363, 798 S.E.2d 555, 558 (2017). Discovery decisions are reviewed for abuse of discretion, which includes an error of law. *Bayle v. S.C. Dep’t of Transp.*, 344 S.C. 115, 128, 542 S.E.2d 736, 742 (Ct. App. 2001).

ARGUMENT

At the outset, it’s important to keep straight what this case is about and what this case is not about. This case is about whether Advocaat is entitled to inspect the

2018 gate agreement. This case is *not* about whether CSA’s use of gate-fee revenue or the terms of the 2018 gate agreement comply with the various documents that govern CSA and Sea Pines. Thus, all of Advocaat’s arguments below about how the revenue was being used have no bearing on this case.

This much is clear from Advocaat’s own complaint. (R. p. 22–28 (Am. Compl.)) She asserts only two claims: (1) to inspect records under the Nonprofit Corporation Act and (2) for a violation of the Homeowners Association Act for not recording the gate agreement. Nothing else. She did not assert a claim that CSA was violating any of the governing documents by the use of the gate-fee revenue. Not asserting such a claim was her choice. After all, “the plaintiff is the master of the complaint.” *Holmes Grp., Inc. v. Vornado Air Circulation Sys., Inc.*, 535 U.S. 826, 831 (2002) (internal quotation mark omitted).

With that cleared up, what is left to determine is whether the circuit court was correct that Advocaat has the right to inspect the gate agreement. None of the circuit court’s four bases for granting the application for inspection can withstand scrutiny. Its decision should therefore be reversed.

I. The 2018 gate agreement is not a bylaw.

The circuit court’s first justification for granting the application was that the gate agreement is a bylaw under the Nonprofit Corporation Act. The circuit court’s expansive interpretation of what constitutes a bylaw is incompatible with the statute and common sense.

The Nonprofit Corporation Act defines “bylaws” as “the code or codes of rules, other than the articles, adopted pursuant to this chapter for the regulation or

management of the affairs of the corporation irrespective of the name or names by which the rules are designated.” S.C. Code Ann. § 33-31-140(4). This definition is straightforward. And CSA’s bylaws are easy to identify: They are named “Restated Bylaws of Community Services Associates, Inc.” and are recorded with the Beaufort County Register of Deeds. (R. pp. 141–59 (Opp’n to Application Ex. C).)

Instead of rejecting Advocaat’s argument on what should have been an open-and-shut issue, the circuit court accepted this argument because, the circuit court said, the gate agreement “binds and regulates the corporation and its resources.” (R. p. 5 (Order 5).) True, the gate agreement may impose obligations on CSA. But every contract imposes obligations on its parties. That fact does not convert a contract into a bylaw.

Under the circuit court’s logic, every contract a nonprofit corporation enters into automatically becomes a bylaw. Had the General Assembly intended for every contract to be subject to inspection, it would have said so by adding “contracts with third parties” to the list of required corporate records in section 33-31-1601 that are subject to inspection by members under section 33-31-1602. But the General Assembly did nothing like that. And it cannot have reasonably hidden such an intent within the word “bylaws.” *Cf. Peake v. S.C. Dep’t of Motor Vehicles*, 375 S.C. 589, 598, 654 S.E.2d 284, 289 (Ct. App. 2007) (“The legislature’s intent should be derived primarily from the plain language of the statute.”). That makes sense, given that bylaws have a long-held connotation of internal governance, while contracts, on the other hand, involve external dealings with third parties.

Taking the circuit court’s reasoning even further to its logical conclusion, every provision of the United States Code, every section of the South Carolina Code, and every local ordinance would also constitute a bylaw of a nonprofit corporation. Federal and state statutes and county ordinances—just like a contract—“bind and regulate” the corporation. But no one would reasonably think that the Nonprofit Corporation Act sought to turn every other legislative enactment into a bylaw for all of the State’s nonprofit corporations.

At most here, the gate policy could be considered a bylaw under the Nonprofit Corporation Act. The gate policy sets forth the specifics regarding the gates, from who can obtain decals to how different types of cars are treated to the fees charged for entry. (R. pp. 85–140 (Opp’n to Application Ex. B).) That document may “regulate” or “manage” (to use the statutory definition of “bylaws”) CSA’s affairs of maintaining and operating the gates at Sea Pines. The gate agreement simply governs CSA’s relationship with two third parties on one particular issue. The gate agreement therefore is not a bylaw under section 33-31-1602 that Advocaat is entitled to inspect.

II. The 2018 gate agreement is not an accounting record.

The circuit court’s second basis for granting the application was its conclusion that the 2018 gate agreement is an accounting record under section 33-31-1601(b). The gate agreement “underl[ays] the finances of CSA” and is “material[] used to prepare CSA’s financial and accounting statements,” the circuit court opined. (R. p. 6 (Order 6).) This conclusion expands “accounting records” beyond any plausible meaning.

The Nonprofit Corporation Act does not define accounting records, so the Court must “look[] to the usual dictionary meaning to supply” a definition. *Berkeley Cty. Sch. Dist. v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue*, 383 S.C. 334, 345, 679 S.E.2d 913, 919 (2009). “Accounting” means the “act of reckoning, counting, or computing.”² I *Compact Edition of the Oxford English Dictionary* 17 (1971). Meanwhile, “record” is defined as an “account of some fact or event preserved in writing.” II *Compact Edition of the Oxford English Dictionary* 2445 (1971). Putting these definitions together, an accounting record is a document that is used to compile the financial records of a corporation. Cf. S.C. Code Ann. § 33-31-1601 Official Cmt. 2 (accounting records are ones that “allow the financial statements to be prepared in a fashion that fairly presents the financial condition and results of operations of the corporation”).

With that definition clear, turn now to what the gate agreement is—and what the gate agreement is not. The gate agreement is, as its name suggests, a contract. See *Rabon v. State Fin. Corp.*, 203 S.C. 183, 26 S.E.2d 501, 502 (1943) (“a contract is an agreement on sufficient consideration, to do or not to do a particular thing”). The gate agreement is prospective and, importantly, is not a record of what revenue is actually collected from the gate fees. The revenue information is found (and already available to CSA members) in CSA’s annual report. (R. pp. 423–51 (Def.’s Reply on

² Although a lay dictionary gives a better sense of the plain and ordinary meaning of a word, legal dictionaries have a similar definition of “accounting.” See *Black’s Law Dictionary* 22 (9th ed. 2009) (defining “accounting” as the “act or system of establishing or settling financial accounts; esp., the process of recording transactions in the financial records of a business and periodically extracting, sorting, and summarizing the recorded transactions to produce a set of financial records”).

Application Ex.)) That information is also available on CSA's website. *See* Gate Entry Committee, Sea Pines Community Services Associates, tinyurl.com/y4o86yrk (last visited Feb. 8, 2021).

To think about this in a different way, consider what an accountant would need to review to prepare a financial statement for CSA. That hypothetical accountant would rely on things like cash-flow statements, balance sheets, ledgers, journals, cancelled checks, loan information, check registers, and bank statements. These are all things that show money that comes in and goes out of the corporation. By contrast, this accountant would have no need to review documents (such as the gate agreement) that do not provide any information about the money that was actually collected or spent by the corporation. Tellingly, *Advocaat* offered no evidence below that this document is something an accountant would use to prepare financial records. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 33-31-1601 Official Cmt. 2.

In reaching the contrary conclusion, the circuit court wrongly relied on two things. First, the circuit court reasoned that the gate agreement is an accounting record because the agreement allows CSA to collect increased gate fees, and these gate fees are an important piece of revenue. (R. p. 7 (Order 7).) The importance of the agreement or the gate-fee revenue, however, has nothing to do with what kind of document the agreement is. Put another way, the fact that the agreement allows an important source of revenue to be collected does not transmogrify the agreement into an accounting record. The agreement is still a contract. The documents showing how

much revenue is collected (and how that revenue is spent) are, by contrast, accounting records.

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