RECEIVED

Jun 08 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith, Circuit Court Judge
Case No. 2020-CP-07-00768

Appellate Case No. 2020-001500

Dana Advocaat, both individually and as trustee of the
Advocaat Living Trust dated March 7, 2019.....Respondent,

v.

Community Services Associates, Inc.Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Ian S. Ford
Ainsley F. Tillman
FORD WALLACE THOMSON LLC
715 King St., Charleston, SC 29403
(843) 277-2011
www.FordWallace.com
Attorneys for Respondent Dana Advocaat

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

¹¹ The word “affairs” is itself a broad, general word, referring to “commercial, professional, public, or personal business.” *Merriam-Webster Dictionary*, Affairs, <https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/affairs> (last accessed April 5, 2021). Some synonyms for “affairs” include: businesses, matters, dealings, activities, concerns, and undertakings. *Merriam-Webster Thesaurus*, Affairs, <https://www.merriam-webster.com/thesaurus/affairs> (last accessed April 5, 2021).

of “Bylaws” is unquestionably written so that the definition includes certain contracts, like the Gate Agreement. The definition spells out that it applies to any code or rules that regulate or manage the affairs of the corporation: “irrespective of the name or names by which the rules are designated.” S.C. Code § 33-31-1604(a) (emphasis added). Put simply: the statute’s definition does not encompass “every contract,” as CSA asserts, but it absolutely includes internal agreements with members of the corporation that dictate the terms by which the corporation fulfills its corporate functions.

The circuit court, in its discretion, found that – irrespective of its name – the Gate Agreement regulates and manages the affairs of the corporation, and it is therefore a corporate “bylaw,” as defined by the Nonprofit Corporation Act. CSA’s corporate affairs include managing and maintaining the common areas; CSA’s Gate Agreement regulates and manages the gates to the community (a common area), and it regulates the corporation’s use of fees associated therewith (used to maintain the common areas). Further, the Gate Agreement regulates the behavior of the corporation with regards to certain of its commercial members.¹²

CSA summarizes its corporate affairs as to: “protect, maintain and enhance the resources of Sea Pines for the benefit of the Sea Pines Community.” *Opposition*, p. 2. CSA admits that the purpose of the Gate Agreement is to regulate and manage the gate and

¹² CSA insists that the Gate Agreement is “simply” a contract with “two third parties.” (App. Br. p. 10). It neglects to mention that the “two third parties” are not strangers to the corporation – instead, they are commercial *members* of the corporation. In other words, the Gate Agreement is an intra-corporate arrangement that governs CSA’s relationship with one class of CSA’s members (commercial), which CSA would like to keep secret from its other class of members (residential members, like Advocaat), despite the fact that the Gate Agreement decides which common property (owned by all members, together) receive the corporation’s funds (in which all members have an interest).

its associated fees. Here are some excerpts, in CSA's own words, as to the function of the Gate Agreement's 2018 Amendment:

The 2018 Amendment pertains to the prices of gate entry fees from 2018 through 2021. Further, **under the 2018 Amendment, CSA is required to contribute certain sums from gate entry fees for the maintenance and improvement of Sea Pines common areas**, and for certain services important to the preservation of Sea Pines as a visitor-friendly, attractive community.

Opposition p. 3 (emphasis added) (R. p. 45). The 2018 Amendment pertains to a major resource of the corporation (*i.e.*, the gate fees), and it purports to dictate its use for common areas and "certain services." An internal agreement for the use of corporate resources is plainly a rule for the management of its affairs, and thus is a bylaw under the Nonprofit Corporation Act. Thus, by CSA's own description, the 2018 Amendment unquestionably sets forth "rules . . . for the regulation or management of the affairs of the corporation."

The thrust of CSA's argument is that members of nonprofit corporations should not be allowed to inspect governing documents that the corporation cleverly chooses to label "contracts." The Legislature clearly anticipated this evasive maneuver, which is why it included within its definition of "Bylaws" the modifying phrase "irrespective of the name or names by which the rules are designated." The circuit court, in its discretion and in accordance with the Legislature's definition, looked to the *function* of the Gate Agreement, rather than simply its name. Examining the facts before it, and applying them to the definition given by the Legislature, the circuit court determined that the Gate Agreement is a "Bylaw" of CSA. This was not an abuse of discretion, controlled by error of law. Instead, it was a proper exercise of the authority given to the circuit court by the

statute. S.C. Code § 33-31-1602(a) (“the circuit court . . . may summarily order inspection and copying of the records demanded . . .”). This Court should therefore affirm, under the applicable standard of review.

B. The parade of horribles lacks the requisite horror.

CSA next argues, as if it were a bad thing, that: “Taking the circuit court’s reasoning even further to its logical conclusion, every provision of the United States Code, every section of the South Carolina Code, and every local ordinance would also constitute a bylaw of the corporation.” (App. Br. p. 10). But, of course there is no question that all of those acts of the legislature **do** regulate the affairs of the corporation and its members. And there is also no question that folks like Advocaat have the right to inspect those legislative schemes, in order to understand how they might impact something like membership in a nonprofit corporation. Governing provisions should be accessible, here in America, and CSA’s parade of horribles argument is downright unpatriotic.

In any event, CSA has not attempted to keep the South Carolina Code hidden from its members, so as to prevent them from fully understanding what makes their nonprofit corporation tick. But it **has** attempted to keep the Gate Agreement hidden, so that its members are prevented from fully understanding how CSA will spend the corporation’s money, and how CSA will interact with an exclusive few of its commercial members (The Resort and The Center), and whether CSA will allow some of its members to control common resources (the gate fees).¹³ The circuit court correctly found that CSA’s governance should not be a game of “hide the ball.”

¹³ A member of the Board of Directors of CSA, recusing himself from acting on the amendment to the Gate Agreement, noted: “Under the current proposal, both Sea Pines Center

The bottom line is that the Nonprofit Corporation Act obviously intends for members of nonprofit corporations to have access to the corporation's records—and particularly those that lay the groundwork for the management and regulation of the affairs of the entity and its members. Nonprofit corporations are required by statute to allow their members to view those governing documents, and the courts are specifically given the power (and the discretion) to enforce the statute by ordering inspection. S.C. Code § 33-31-1604(a). So strongly does the Legislature feel about the importance of a corporation's forthcoming disclosure of its records to its members, that it mandates ("shall") the court to award attorney's fees and costs to the member who must go to the court to get her corporation's records. S.C. Code § 33-31-1604(c). This is not a parade of horrors; it is democracy and transparency at its best.

This Court should affirm the circuit court, which did not abuse its discretion when it ordered CSA to permit Advocaat to inspect Gate Agreement, which governs CSA's affairs and thus constitutes a bylaw under a plain reading of the Nonprofit Corporation Act's broad definition of the term.

II. The circuit court properly exercised its discretion pursuant to the Nonprofit Corporation Act when it found that the Gate Agreement is an accounting record that CSA must permit Advocaat to inspect.

The circuit court's second basis for ordering CSA to permit inspection was that the Gate Agreement also constitutes an "accounting record," under a different statutory

and Sea Pines Resort would be granted control over spending significant portions of the gate fee revenues of CSA." (Ex. 1 to Advocaat Reply Memorandum) (R. p. 171).

provision. As discussed below, the circuit court’s decision in this regard was correct, and it is an independent sustaining ground for the order on appeal.

A. The Legislature delegated to the circuit court the task of determining what is an “accounting record” in a particular circumstance.

The Nonprofit Corporation Act requires a nonprofit corporation to “maintain appropriate accounting records,” and it gives the corporation’s members the right to inspect those records.¹⁴ S.C. Code §§ 33-31-1601, 1602(b)(2) *et seq.* Importantly, the Legislature delegated to **local circuit courts** the question of which accounting records a member is entitled to inspect under particular circumstances. The statute imparts to those courts broad discretion in making that determination:

If a corporation does not within a reasonable time allow a member to inspect and copy **any other record**, the member who complies with Section 33-31-1602(b) and (c) may apply to the circuit court in the county where the corporation’s principal office in this State, or if none in this State, its registered office, is located for an order to permit inspection and copying of the records demanded. The court shall dispose of an application under this subsection on an expedited basis.

S.C. Code § 33-31-1604(b) (emphasis added). In this instance, the circuit court examined the facts before it and concluded that, under these circumstances, the Gate Agreement constitutes an accounting record of the corporation. Because the circuit court did not abuse its discretion when it ordered CSA to permit Advocaat to inspect the Gate Agreement, this Court should affirm. *See Richland Cnty. v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue*, 422 S.C.292, 307, 811 S.E.2d 758, 766 (2018) (internal citations omitted) (“An abuse of

¹⁴ The statutory right to inspect accounting records is separate and apart from the statutory right to inspect bylaws.

discretion arises where the trial court was controlled by an error of law or where its order is based on factual conclusions that are without evidentiary support.”).

In its brief, CSA complains that the Legislature did not define “accounting record.” CSA then cherry-picks some definitions that it happens to like, from various dictionaries,¹⁵ and proceeds to argue that the Gate Agreement does not fit within the particular definitions that CSA has curated. But it bears repeating that the circuit court was not interpreting a statute when it ordered CSA to produce the Gate Agreement. Instead, it was exercising the discretion given by the Legislature to local circuit courts (“the member . . . may apply to the circuit court in the county where the corporation’s

¹⁵ Other definitions include:

- “A course of business dealings or other relations for which records must be kept,” *Black’s Law Dictionary* p. 21, Account / Accounting (11th ed. 2019).
- “[T]he system of recording and summarizing business and financial transactions and analyzing, verifying, and reporting the results” Synonyms: account, argument, case, explanation, rationale, reason. *Merriam-Webster Dictionary*, Accounting, <https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/accounting> (accessed March 18, 2021).
- “Accounting records are key sources of information and evidence used to prepare, verify and/or audit the financial statements. They also include documentation to prove asset ownership for creation of liabilities and proof of monetary and non monetary transactions. **Accounting records can take on many forms and include (among other camps):**
 - Ledgers
 - Journals
 - Bank statements
 - **Contracts and agreements**
 - Verification statements
 - Transportation receipts
 - Invoices
 - Vouchers”

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Accounting_records (accessed March 18, 2021) (emphasis added).

principal office . . . is located . . . for an order to permit inspection . . . on an expedited basis”) and deciding whether, under these particular circumstances, the Gate Agreement was the sort of record that CSA’s members should have access to. Because “accounting records” can take various forms, depending on the particular circumstances—ledgers, journals, bank statements, contracts, agreements, verification statements, transportation receipts, invoices, vouchers (*see* fn. 15, *supra*)—the Legislature delegated to the circuit court the discretion of whether a document is an “accounting record” in a specific instance.

This makes sense—it is unlikely that the Legislature intended for this Court of Appeals to have to weigh in for a *de novo* review every time a homeowners association has a disagreement on what is an “accounting record” in a particular instance. (If so, this Court would not have time to do much else.)¹⁶

¹⁶ As further example, the Act’s Official Comment deliberately leaves open the question of which accounting records a corporation must permit its members to inspect, permitting courts to decide, on a case-by-case basis: “The question of what accounting records are ‘appropriate’ depends on the nature, size and other characteristics of the corporation.” Off. Cmt. 2, § 33-31-1601.

B. The Circuit Court properly determined that the Gate Agreement is included under accounting records in this circumstance.

Here, the circuit court, as empowered by the Legislature, properly examined the particular circumstances of Advocaat's record request in light of CSA's size, nature, and the factual circumstances surrounding the particular document sought. The circuit court properly based its determination on the facts before it, which indicated that CSA is a large, sophisticated corporation, with a \$13 million annual budget and complex accounting records, charged with managing the finances and property interests of thousands of members. (Order) (R. p. 1).

In determining whether CSA's Gate Agreement is an accounting record, the circuit court looked to, *inter alia*, (i) the terms in a previous version of the Gate Agreement and a "final" draft of the 2018 Gate Agreement, and (ii) CSA's own statements, made to its members, about the nature of the document.

(i) Past version of Gate Agreement and the "final" draft of the 2018 Gate Agreement.

Although CSA's brief refuses to tell what is in the 2018 Gate Agreement (other than representing what it is *not*), the circuit court had guidance from a previous version of that Agreement, and from a "final" draft of the 2018 Gate Agreement. The previous version (R. p. 460) specifies, among other things, numerous accounting functions and accounting-related requirements, including:

- The amounts, dates, and methods of determining the increased gate fees and weekly passes (*id.* ¶ 2);
- The method for allocating excess funds from the increased gate fees (*id.* ¶ 3);

- Adjusted gross resort revenue increases in allocations from Business Landowners (*id.* ¶ 4);
- Crediting of additional adjusted gross resort revenues regarding Business Landowners (*id.* ¶ 4);
- Redetermination of the minimum annual amount payable from the Business Landowners (*id.* ¶ 5);
- Refunding of certain payments made by CSA (*id.* ¶ 5);
- Capital project allocations for certain internal entities at Sea Pines (*id.* ¶ 7);
- Reduction in daily access fees in certain instances, and crediting of CSA for the difference in amount (*id.* ¶ 8);
- Governance requirements for (*inter alia*) development and prioritization of expenditures (*id.* ¶ 9).

Similarly, the draft version¹⁷ of the 2018 Gate Agreement (labeled as “Final 7-2-18 4:00 p.m.” (R. p. 460)) specifies accounting functions and requirements:

- Graduated fees of various sorts for each 2018, 2019, 2020, 2021, and 2022 (R. pp. 463–465);
- Detailed, specific accounting metrics for mandatory increases or decreases in CSA contributions to internal funds based on changes in revenue from the gate fees (R. pp. 463–465);
- Budgeting requirements (R. p. 465);
- Incremental funding requirements (R. p. 465).

Based on the previous version, and on the “final” draft, any reasonable audit or financial review¹⁸ of CSA’s finances would necessarily include the 2018 Gate Agreement, as an

¹⁷ As argued by Advocaat at the hearing (R. pp. 512–513, 535), the fact that the “final” draft of the 2018 Gate Agreement is available waives any confidentiality or privilege that CSA claims over the document. This is an additional sustaining grounds for the circuit court’s ruling.

¹⁸ A common definition of “accounting records” includes documents necessary to support an audit or financial reviews of a corporation’s finances: “Accounting records are all of the

underlying accounting record. Indeed, a financial review or accounting audit would not make sense without viewing the 2018 Gate Agreement.

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